

# PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE PROCEDURE



#### **DOCUMENT CONTROL**

Version Number	Description	Reviewed by	Approved by	Revision Date	Issue Date
01	Document Creation	CoSec, ELT	CEO	09/10/2020	09/10/2020
02	Amendments from internal audit	CoSec	CEO	19/01/2022	19/01/2022

#### **AUDIT**

This procedure shall be reviewed / revised

- where a Risk Assessment / Audit identifies a need to review;
- following legislative changes,
- a significant incident involving this procedure; or
- at least every 2 years.

Document Owner: Company Secretary Version No: 02 Approved by: CEO

Review Due: 19/01/2024
UNCONTROLLED WHEN PRINTED

Issue Date: 19/01/2022 Record No: GOVE-1688532262-2077 Page 2 of 13



## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DOCUN	MENT CONTROL	2
AUDIT		2
1.	OBJECTIVE	4
2.	SCOPE	4
2.1.	Designation of Public Interest Disclosure Officer	4
2.2.	Receiving Public Interest Disclosures	5
2.3.	Assessing a Public Interest Disclosure	6
2.4.	Form of Public Interest Disclosure	6
2.5.	Public Interest Disclosure Register	7
2.6.	Investigating a Public Interest Disclosure	7
2.7.	Maintaining Confidentiality in an Investigation	8
2.8.	Recording the Outcome of an Investigation	9
2.9.	Taking Action Following an Investigation	9
2.10.	Recording Action Taken	.10
2.11.	Reporting to a Discloser on the Progress and Outcome of an Investigation	.10
2.12.	Victimisation and Reprisals	.10
2.13.	Confidentiality	.10
2.14.	Reporting Requirements	.11
2.15.	Making Information Available	.11

Issue Date: 19/01/2022 Record No: GOVE-1688532262-2077

Page 3 of 13



#### 1. OBJECTIVE

The object of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 (the Act) is to:

- facilitate the disclosure of public interest information;
- · provide protection for those who make disclosures; and
- provide protection for those who are the subject of a disclosure.

This is achieved by:

- protecting the person making the disclosure from legal or other action;
- providing for the confidentiality of the identity of the person making the disclosure and the person who is the subject of a disclosure; and
- providing remedies for acts of reprisal and victimisation that occur substantially because the person has made a disclosure.

Corrupt or other improper conduct, including mismanagement of public resources, in the exercise of public functions of Southern Ports and its officers, employees and contractors, will not be tolerated.

Southern Ports is committed to the aims and objectives of the Act. It recognises the value and importance of contributions of staff to enhance administrative and management practices and strongly supports disclosures being made by staff as to corrupt or other improper conduct.

Reasonable steps will be taken to provide protection to staff that make such disclosures from any detrimental action in reprisal for the making of a public interest disclosure.

#### 2. SCOPE

This procedure provides for the manner in which Southern Ports will comply with its obligations under the Act. The procedure specifies the following key aspects of Southern Ports commitment to public interest disclosure:

- Disclosure of public interest information shall be made to a Public Interest Disclosure Officer (PID Officer).
- The PID Officer shall investigate the information disclosed, or cause that information to be investigated.
- The PID Officer may take action following the completion of the investigation.
- The PID Officer shall report to the discloser, where appropriate, as to the progress and outcome of that investigation and the action taken as a consequence.
- The confidentiality of the discloser, and any person who may be the subject of a public interest disclosure, shall be maintained.
- Records as to public interest disclosures shall be maintained and reporting obligations complied with.

#### 2.1. Designation of Public Interest Disclosure Officer

The CEO will appoint PID Officers within Southern Ports from time to time. The CEO has designated the Company Secretary as the Senior PID Officer

The Senior PID Officer is responsible for managing disclosures of public interest information received relating to matters falling within the sphere of responsibility of Southern Ports. A PID Officer is to liaise with the Senior PID Officer, or in the Senior PID Officers absence, the CEO, on all PID matters in the first instance, where appropriate.

Document Owner: Company Secretary Version No: 02 Issue Date: 19/01/2022

Approved by: CEO Review Due: 19/01/2024 Record No: GOVE-1688532262-2077

UNCONTROLLED WHEN PRINTED Page 4 of 13



#### 2.2. Receiving Public Interest Disclosures

Before a discloser makes a public interest disclosure to the PID Officer, the PID Officer shall advise the discloser that if they choose to make a public interest disclosure they:

- will not as a result of the disclosure:
  - o incur any civil or criminal liability;
  - o be liable to any disciplinary action under law;
  - be liable to be dismissed or have his or her services dispensed with or otherwise terminated;
  - be liable for any breach of a duty of secrecy or confidentiality or any other applicable restriction on disclosure;
- may have the right to take civil proceedings if they are subject to detrimental action as a result
  of making the disclosure;
- will not have their identity disclosed except in accordance with the Act (disclosure of their identity may be requires in the course of the investigation or in taking action in some circumstances);
- will have the right to be informed of the progress and outcome of the investigation and action taken as a result:
- will be protected only if they believe on reasonable grounds that the information to be disclosed is or may be true;
- will commit an offence, and lose the protection of the Act, if they know that the information is
  false or misleading in a material particular or are reckless about whether the information is false
  or misleading in a material particular;
- will forfeit the protection given by the Act if they disclose the information otherwise than under the Act (such as, providing information to the media or a person who is not a proper authority);
- may commit an offence if they disclose information that might identify or tend to identify anyone as a person in respect of whom a disclosure of public interest information has been made:
- will only be protected if they make the disclosure to the proper authority for receiving that kind
  of information provided in the table below:

When the disclosure relates to	the proper authority is
The sphere of responsibility of a public authority (for example, matters about the public authority or its officers, or which the public authority has the function of investigating)	The Public Interest Disclosure Officer (PID Officer) of the Public Authority
Offences under State law.	A police officer or the Corruption and Crime Commission
Substantial unauthorised or irregular use of, or substantial mismanagement of, public resources	The PID Officer of the public authority concerned, or the Auditor General
Matters of administration affecting someone in their personal capacity falling within the jurisdiction of the Ombudsman	The PID Officer of the public authority concerned or the Ombudsman

Document Owner: Company Secretary Version No: 02 Issue Date: 19/01/2022

Approved by: CEO Review Due: 19/01/2024 Record No: GOVE-1688532262-2077

UNCONTROLLED WHEN PRINTED Page 5 of 13



When the disclosure relates to	the proper authority is
A police officer	The Commissioner of Police or the Corruption and Crime Commission
A Member of the Legislative Council	The President of the Legislative Council
A Member of the Legislative Assembly	The Speaker of the Legislative Assembly
A judicial officer	The Chief Justice
A public officer who is not a member of Parliament, a Minister, a Judicial Officer or a Commissioned or other officer specified in schedule 1 of the Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971	The PID Officer of the public authority concerned, the Ombudsman or the Commissioner for Public Sector Standards
A person or a matter of a prescribed class	A person declared by the regulations to be a proper authority

#### 2.3. Assessing a Public Interest Disclosure

The PID Officer must on receiving the information confirm that the discloser wishes to make a public disclosure under the Act.

Where the PID Officer ascertains the matter relates to the CEO, the Senior PID must be informed and will oversee the progress of any investigation.

Where the PID Officer ascertains the matter relates to the Company Secretary the CEO is to be informed and the CEO will oversee the progress of any investigation.

Where the PID Officer ascertains the matter relates to another PID Officer, the Senior PID must be informed and will manage any investigation.

Where a disclosure is made, the PID Officer must make an initial assessment of whether the:

- information disclosed relates to a public authority, a public officer or a public sector contractor;
- information disclosed relates to the performance of a public function;
- information disclosed tends to show improper conduct;
- improper conduct is of a kind for which the PID Officer is the proper authority;
- discloser believes on reasonable grounds that the information is or may be true; and
- information is not protected by legal professional privilege.

#### 2.4. Form of Public Interest Disclosure

If a disclosure is a public interest disclosure, the discloser and the PID Officer should complete the Public Interest Discloser Lodgement Form as attached to this Procedure (alternatively found on the Public Sector Commissions (PSC) Website<sup>1</sup>). The PID Officer should also complete Part 2 of the Assessment Form for a Public Interest Disclosure.

Document Owner: Company Secretary Version No: 02 Approved by: CEO

Review Due: 19/01/2024 **UNCONTROLLED WHEN PRINTED** 

Issue Date: 19/01/2022

Record No: GOVE-1688532262-2077

Page 6 of 13

http://www.publicsector.wa.gov.au/public-administration/oversight/public-interest-disclosures/information-about- makingdisclosure/pid-resources



On completion of this form, the PID Officer should create a separate file for the Public Interest Disclosure, with the following text marked clearly on the front of the file.

#### "CONFIDENTIAL

The material in the file relates to a public interest disclosure made under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003.

Disclosure of information that might identify or tend to identify either the discloser or a person in respect of whom the disclosure has been made is an offence, unless the disclosure occurs in accordance with the Act.

Penalty: \$24,000 or imprisonment for two years"

The making of the public interest disclosure will also be recorded in the Public Interest Disclosure Register for reporting to the Commissioner for Public Sector Standards.

#### 2.5. Public Interest Disclosure Register

Southern Ports shall maintain a Public Interest Disclosure Register recording a unique register number including a summary of information as follows:

- The informant.
- Public authorities about which a disclosure is made.
- People named in the disclosure.
- The nature of the disclosure.
- The investigation process and the action, if any, taken.
- Communication with the informant.
- Disclosure of the informant's identity, if applicable.
- Disclosure if identity of persons named in the disclosure.
- Claims of unlawful disclosure of informant's identity or identity of persons named in the disclosure.
- Claims of victimisation.
- Key dates.

Additional information may also be recorded in the Public Interest Disclosure Register at the discretion of the public authority.

#### 2.6. Investigating a Public Interest Disclosure

The PID Officer, in consultation with the Senior PID Officer, must consider whether the disclosure relates to Southern Ports, its officers or contractors and whether or not it relates to a matter or person that Southern Ports has a function or power to investigate. If it does not relate to any of these matters then the PID Officer is not required by the Act to investigate the matter.

Where the PID Officer considers that they lack sufficient power to effectively investigate the matter, but the information received causes them to form the opinion that a public authority, public officer or public sector may have engaged in improper conduct, the PID Officer should refer the matter to another appropriate investigative body.

The PID Officer must also consider whether:

- the matter is trivial:
- the disclosure is vexatious or frivolous;
- there is no reasonable prospect of obtaining sufficient evidence due to the time that has elapsed since the occurrence of the matter; or

Document Owner: Company Secretary Version No: Issue Date: 19/01/2022 Approved by: CEO Review Due: 19/01/2024

**UNCONTROLLED WHEN PRINTED** 

Record No: GOVE-1688532262-2077

Page 7 of 13



the matter is being, or has been, adequately or properly investigated by another proper authority to which an appropriate disclosure of public interest information has been made under the Act.

If the answer to any of these questions is "yes", the PID Officer, after consultation with the Senior PID Officer, is not required by the Act to investigate the matter.

Where the PID Officer determines that the disclosure is a public interest disclosure that should be investigated, the PID Officer must investigate the disclosed matter or engage another person to carry out the investigation.

It is Southern Ports preference to utilise external expertise to investigate a disclosure. PID Officers will assist with the external investigation where possible.

In conducting an investigation, typical matters could include:

- drawing up terms of reference, which should clarify the key issues identified by the disclosure;
- specifying dates for feedback and when the investigation should be completed;
- ensuring the objectives of the investigation include collecting and collating information relating to the disclosure, considering the information collected and drawing conclusions objectively and impartially;
- maintaining procedural fairness for the person who is the subject of the disclosure;
- giving information to the person who is the subject of a disclosure about their rights and obligations under the Act, Southern Ports Code of Conduct and Public Sector Code of Ethics and the law;
- the investigator making contemporaneous notes of discussions and interviews and, where practicable and appropriate, recording discussions and interviews on audio or videotape;
- ensuring strict security with all investigations, so as to maintain the confidentiality requirements of the Act.

If a disclosure is withdrawn, a proper authority may still continue to investigate the issues raised.

#### 2.7. Maintaining Confidentiality in an Investigation

The Act imposes strict confidentiality requirements in relation to the identity of the discloser and persons in respect of whom a public interest disclosure has been made. The disclosure of information which might identify or tend to identify these persons, except in accordance with the Act, is a serious offence, punishable with a maximum penalty of \$24,000 or two years.

The confidentiality provisions of the Act do not apply to all information disclosed in a public interest disclosure, but only to information that might identify or tend to identify the discloser and persons in respect of whom a public interest disclosure has been made.

One of the circumstances in which identifying information may be disclosed is with the consent of the person concerned. It is important that this consent be recorded. The Consent to Disclosure of Identifying Information form should be used for this purpose (see PSC website<sup>2</sup>).

Identifying information relating to a discloser may be disclosed without the discloser's consent where:

- it is necessary to do so, having regard to the rules of natural justice; or
- it is necessary to do so to enable the matter to be investigated effectively.

However, before information is disclosed for these reasons the person making the disclosure must take all reasonable steps to inform the person whose identity is to be disclosed:

that the disclosure is being made; and

Document Owner: Company Secretary Version No: 02 Issue Date: 19/01/2022 Approved by: 19/01/2024 CEO Review Due:

**UNCONTROLLED WHEN PRINTED** 

Record No: GOVE-1688532262-2077

Page 8 of 13



the reasons for the disclosure being made.

This information should be given, where practicable, in the form for Notification of Disclosure of Identifying Information (see PCS website).

Where identifying information in relation to a discloser is conveyed to another person for these reasons, the other person should be warned that disclosure of the information to a third person may involve a serious offence.

Identifying information relating to a person in respect of whom a public interest disclosure has been made can be disclosed at the investigation stage where the disclosure:

- is necessary to enable the matter to be investigated effectively;
- there are reasonable grounds to believe that the disclosure of identifying information is necessary to prevent or minimise the risk of injury to any person or damage to any property.

In addition, disclosures made in accordance with sections 152 or 153 of the *Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003* are exempt from these confidentiality requirements.

Particularly where a discloser works for Southern Ports, protecting the identity of the discloser is an important part of protecting the discloser from reprisals and victimisation. Careful consideration must be given as to whether the disclosure of information that might identify or tend to identify a discloser is necessary for the effective investigation of the matter or having regard to the rules of natural justice.

The discloser is to have regard to the confidentiality of the disclosure and not discuss the disclosure with anyone outside the investigation process.

Where a PID Officer appoints a third person to conduct an investigation in relation to the public interest disclosure, they must consider whether it is necessary to inform the investigator of the identity of the discloser. In some cases it may not be necessary to provide the investigator with the identity of the discloser. Where it is necessary, to enable an effective investigation, or having regard to the rules of natural justice, to provide identifying information to the investigating officer, then the discloser should be notified in the manner described above.

#### 2.8. Recording the Outcome of an Investigation

The outcome of an investigation will be clearly and comprehensively recorded. In addition to any investigation report, the person conducting the investigation will complete part 4 of the Assessment Form for Public Interest Disclosure (see PSC website).

The result of the investigation will also be recorded in the Public Interest Disclosure Register by the PID Officer. All reporting requirements to the Commissioner for Public Sector Standards required under the Act will be based on extracts from this Register.

#### 2.9. Taking Action Following an Investigation

The PID Officer must take action where they form the opinion that a person may be, or has been or may in the future be, involved in improper conduct. Action that may be taken includes:

- preventing the matter to which the disclosure relates from continuing or occurring;
- referring the matter to the Police or other appropriate body; or
- taking disciplinary action against a person responsible for the matter.

The PID Officer will inform the relevant Southern Ports HR personnel of the investigation findings, where appropriate, to enable the recommended actions.

Before taking any action, the person against whom the action is to be taken is to be given the opportunity to make written or oral submissions.

In taking that action the PID Officer remains limited by the powers and functions that are conferred

Document Owner: Company Secretary Version No: 02 Issue Date: 19/01/2022

Approved by: CEO Review Due: 19/01/2024 Record No: GOVE-1688532262-2077

UNCONTROLLED WHEN PRINTED Page 9 of 13



by the legislation under which the Officer operates. The Act does not give the PID Officer additional powers to take action.

As well as being limited to matters within the functions and powers of the PID Officer, the action to be taken is guided by what is necessary and reasonable.

#### 2.10. Recording Action Taken

In addition to keeping other records, the PID Officer shall complete Part 5 of the Assessment Form for Public Interest Disclosures (see PSC website) and record a summary of the action taken in the Public Interest Disclosure Register. All reporting requirements to the Commissioner for Public Sector Standards required under the Act will be based on extracts from this Register.

#### 2.11. Reporting to a Discloser on the Progress and Outcome of an Investigation

Where the PID Officer decides not to investigate information disclosed under the Act, or discontinues an investigation, the Officer must give the person who made the disclosure reasons for doing so.

Within three months of the disclosure being made the PID Officer must notify the discloser of the action taken, or proposed to be taken, in relation to the disclosure.

A discloser may also request a progress report.

If an investigation is not complete, the PID Officer may provide to the discloser a progress report on the current status of the investigation.

If an investigation is complete, the PID Officer must provide a final report to the discloser, stating the outcome of the investigation and the reason for taking action following the investigation.

In providing information and reports to disclosers, the PID Officer must not give information that, in the PID Officer's opinion, would be likely to adversely affect:

- any person's safety;
- the investigation of an offence or possible offence; or
- necessary confidentiality as to the existence or identity of another person who has made a
  disclosure of public interest information under the Act.

#### 2.12. Victimisation and Reprisals

Southern Ports will not tolerate any acts of victimisation or reprisal as a result of a person making, or proposing to make, a public interest disclosure.

Any victimisation or reprisals must be reported immediately to the CEO, the Manager of the impacted person, or the Senior PID Officer, who must take immediate action through the relevant Southern Ports HR personnel, to prevent the continuance of this unlawful conduct.

Where victimisation or reprisals are reported, a record of the reported victimisation or reprisal and the action taken must be placed on the file relating to the public interest disclosure.

Steps taken to prevent acts of victimisation or reprisal should be recorded in a manner that they will be accessible for reference, should legal action be taken against Southern Ports.

### 2.13. Confidentiality

The confidentiality requirements in relation to information which might identify or tend to identify a discloser or a person in respect of whom a public interest disclosure has been made must be complied with at all times. The disclosure of this identifying information, except in accordance with the Act, is an offence.

All files relating to a public interest disclosure, whether paper or electronic, must be secure and accessible only by authorised persons. Files should carry clear warnings that there are penalties

Document Owner: Company Secretary Version No: 02 Issue Date: 19/01/2022

Approved by: CEO Review Due: 19/01/2024 Record No: GOVE-1688532262-2077

UNCONTROLLED WHEN PRINTED Page 10 of 13



for unauthorised divulgence of information concerning a disclosure.

It is strongly recommended that sensitive information is not emailed or faxed to machines with general or shared access.

#### 2.14. Reporting Requirements

Southern Ports is accountable to the Commissioner for Public Sector Standards for compliance with the Act.

Under section 23 (f) of the Act, Southern Ports is required to report annually to the Commissioner for Public Sector Standards on:

- the number of public interest disclosures received over the report period;
- the results of any investigations conducted as a result of the disclosures; and
- the action, if any, taken as a result of each investigation.

To enable the Commissioner and the Minister to meet these obligations Southern Ports will provide a report each year on compliance with, and administration of, the Act as requested by the Commissioner.

The Principal Executive Officer Report and the information for the Commissioner's Compliance Report will be provided each year. The reports will cover the period 1 July in any year to 30 June in the subsequent year.

Where there has been no action on a disclosure in the reporting period the format of the report will provide for a simple nil return. Where action relating to one or more disclosures has occurred, all data required will be obtainable as a simple extract from the Public Interest Disclosure Register.

#### 2.15. Making Information Available

These internal procedures shall be made available for access by all staff and members of the public. Copies of these internal procedures are available from a PID Officer and are to be kept on Southern Ports Intranet and website.

Where a person makes an allegation about improper conduct, but the person has not referred to the Act, the person should be advised that they might want to make a public interest disclosure under the Act. If they may wish to do so, they should be referred to the PID Officer for guidance on how to make a disclosure under the Act and on the implications of having done so.

Document Owner: Company Secretary Version No: 02 Issue Date: 19/01/2022

Approved by: CEO Review Due: 19/01/2024 Record No: GOVE-1688532262-2077

UNCONTROLLED WHEN PRINTED Page 11 of 13



OFFICE USE ONLY Register No: # Date: / /

## Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

out a r						king a public interest disclosure to authority(ies) (Public Interest Discl	
Position		COMP	COMPANY SECRETARY				
Name of PID Officer		PETA .	TRIGWELL				
Contact details			9729 6441 / Email: pid@southernports.com.au				
before respor	Ensure you understand your rights and responsibilities under the <i>Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003</i> (PID Act) before you sign this lodgement form. You may wish to seek external legal advice about those rights and responsibilities. Lodge your public interest disclosure form with Southern Ports Authority's proper authority (PID Officer), not the Public Sector Commission.					,	
Perso	nal details						
Family	name						
Given	name				_		
Title		☐ Mr	☐ Ms	☐ Mrs	☐ Dr	☐ Other	
Address							
Work phone							
Mobile							
Email							
I wish to make an anonymous public interest disclosure. I understand that:  I will not receive any information about what happens to this disclosure  it may be more difficult for the proper authority to look into the matter(s) as they cannot come back to me for further information  it may be more difficult for the proper authority/public authority to protect me  this anonymous disclosure may not prevent me from being identified during any investigation or when action is being taken.							
Categories of public interest information  Tick relevant box(es)							
Improper conduct							
An offence under written State law							
Substantial unauthorised or irregular use of, or substantial mismanagement of, public resources							
	Conduct involving a substantial and specific risk of injury to public health, or prejudice to public safety or harm to the environment						
Admin	Administration matter(s) affecting you personally						

Document Owner: **Company Secretary** Version No: 02 Issue Date: 19/01/2022

Review Due: 19/01/2024
UNCONTROLLED WHEN PRINTED Approved by: CEO Record No: GOVE-1688532262-2077

Page 12 of 13



Disclosure details	
Name of the public authority(ies) the disclosure relates to	
Do you work for a public authority?	☐ Yes ☐ No If yes, which public authority and what is your position title?
Does the disclosure relate to one or more individuals?	☐ Yes ☐ No  If yes, provide name(s) and position(s) held by person(s) in the public authority
When did the alleged events occur?	
Summary of the matters to disclose	
Additional information	
Description of any documents provided or names of witnesses	
Have you reported this information to any other person or agency?	☐ Yes ☐ No
If yes, did you report this information as a Public Interest Disclosure matter?	☐ Yes ☐ No If yes, please provide details

You should read the following information and sign this form prior to lodgement.

#### **Acknowledgement**

I believe on reasonable grounds that the information contained in this disclosure is or may be true.

I have been informed and I am aware that:

I will commit an offence under section 24 of the PID Act, if I know that the information contained in this disclosure is false or misleading in a material particular, or I am reckless as to whether it is false or misleading in a material particular.

Penalty: \$12 000 or imprisonment for one (1) year.

- I will forfeit the protection provided by section 13 of the PID Act, if I fail, without reasonable excuse, to assist a person investigating the matter by supplying requested information (s17).
- I will forfeit the protection provided by section 13 of the PID Act, if I subsequently disclose this information to any person other than a proper authority under the PID Act (s17).
- I will commit an offence, if I subsequently make a disclosure of information that might identify or tend to identify anyone as a person in respect of whom this disclosure has been made under the PID Act, except in accordance with section 16(3) of the PID Act.

Penalty: \$24 000 or imprisonment for two (2) years.

I cannot withdraw my disclosure after I have made it.

Authorisation		
Discloser's signature		
Date		

Document Owner: Company Secretary Version No: 02 Issue Date: 19/01/2022 Approved by: CEO Review Due: 19/01/2024

**UNCONTROLLED WHEN PRINTED** 

Record No: GOVE-1688532262-2077

Page 13 of 13